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REQUEST NO. 44: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, Cecilia Jaap 
knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 45: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, Barbara 
Regan knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 46: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, Tammy 
Sotebeer knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Admitted. 
 
REQUEST NO. 47: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated the existence of the Ponzi Scheme to any Employee of 
Associated Bank. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 48: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Trevor Cook 
was perpetrating a fraud. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 49: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Patrick Kiley 
was perpetrating a fraud. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
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REQUEST NO. 50 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Jason Bo-
Alan Beckman was perpetrating a fraud. 
 
ANSWER:  Admitted.  
 
REQUEST NO. 51: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Christopher 
Pettengill was perpetrating a fraud. 
 
ANSWER:  Admitted.  
 
REQUEST NO. 52: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Gerald 
Durand was perpetrating a fraud. 
 
ANSWER:  Admitted.  
 
REQUEST NO. 53: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Trevor Cook 
beached [sic] his fiduciary duties toward any Cook-Kiley Entity. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 54: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Patrick Kiley 
beached [sic] his fiduciary duties toward any Cook-Kiley Entity. 
 
ANSWER: Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 55: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Christopher 
Pettengill beached [sic] his fiduciary duties toward any Cook-Kiley Entity. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
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REQUEST NO. 56: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Trevor Cook 
wrongfully asserted dominion and control over funds entrusted to any Cook-Kiley Entity. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied. 
 
REQUEST NO. 57: 

 
Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 

of any Cook-Kiley Entity communicated to any Employee of Associated Bank that Patrick Kiley 
wrongfully asserted dominion and control over funds entrusted to any Cook-Kiley Entity. 
 
ANSWER:  Denied.  
 
REQUEST NO. 58: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Bremer Bank knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER: Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Bremer Bank 
is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 59: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Citibank knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER: Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Citibank Bank 
is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 60: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Credit Suisse knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 

 
ANSWER:  Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Credit Suisse 
is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 61: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of JPMorgan Chase knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER: Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as JPMorgan 
Chase is not a party to this litigation. 
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REQUEST NO. 62: 

 
Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 

of Metrobank S.A. knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER: Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Metrobank 
S.A. is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 63: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Peregrine Financial Group knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Perigrine 
Financial Group is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 64: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Saxo Bank knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Saxo Bank is 
not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 65: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Voyager Bank knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Voyager Bank 
is not a party to this litigation. 
 
REQUEST NO. 66: 
 

Admit or deny that You have no evidence that, during the relevant period, any Employee 
of Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. knew about the Ponzi Scheme. 
 
ANSWER:  Plaintiff objects to this request as beyond the scope of Rule 26(b)(1) as Wells Fargo 
Bank, N.A. is not a party to this litigation. 
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REQUEST NO. 67: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that contradicts John Loebel’s testimony 
that in July 2009, he observed Ruthie Riehm and Julia Smith Gilsrud shredding client files at the 
Receivership Entities’ Tiffany Court office. Trial Tr. at 4078:8-20, United States v. Beckman, Case 
No. 0:11-cr-0228-MJD-JJK (D. Minn. May 23, 2012) (ECF No.525). 

 
ANSWER: Admitted. 
 
REQUEST NO. 68: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence describing the contents of the client files 
shredded by Ruthie Riehm and Julia Smith Gilsrud. 
 
ANSWER:  The Receiver cannot truthfully admit or deny this request because it does not know 
whether the premise – namely, that client files were shredded – is true or not. The alleged acts 
took place before this Court appointed the plaintiff as Receiver. The Receiver further answers 
that, even assuming the premise to be true, the Receiver has made reasonable inquiry and that 
the information he knows or can readily obtain does not permit him to admit or deny this 
request.   
 
REQUEST NO. 69: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that the client files shredded by Ruthie 
Riehm and Julia Smith Gilsrud can be restored or replaced through additional discovery. 
 
ANSWER: The Receiver cannot truthfully admit or deny this request because it does not know 
whether the premise – namely, that client files were shredded – is true or not. The alleged acts 
took place before this Court appointed the plaintiff as Receiver. The Receiver further answers 
that, even assuming the premise to be true, the Receiver has made reasonable inquiry and the 
information he knows or can readily obtain does not permit him to admit or deny this request. 
 
Further, even assuming the premise of this request to be true, the Receiver might still deny it. 
John Loebel testified that the allegedly shredded files were being “consolidated” to a compact 
disc for preservation “to be given to the authorities” “per the authorities’ request.” Trial Tr. at 
4078:15-18, United States v. Beckman, Case No. 0:11-cr-0228-MJD-JJK (D. Minn. May 23, 2012) 
(ECF No.525). Mr. Loebel’s testimony is some evidence that allegedly shredded client files are 
represented by other discovery.   
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REQUEST NO. 70: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that contradicts Bradley Smallfield’s 
testimony that in July 2009 he observed Patrick Kiley, Trevor Cook, and Graham Cook 
removing computers from the Receivership Entities’ offices at the Price Security Bank Building 
after business hours in “a hurry.” Trial Tr. at 4148:9-4151:2:, United States v. Beckman, Case No. 
0:11-cr-0228 MJD-JJK (D. Minn. May 23, 2012) (ECF No. 525). 
 
ANSWER: Admitted. 
 
REQUEST NO. 71: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence describing the content of the computers 
that Patrick Kiley, Trevor Cook, and Graham Cook removed from the Receivership Entities’ 
offices at the Price Security Bank Building in July 2009. 
 
ANSWER: The Receiver cannot truthfully admit or deny this request because it does not know 
whether the premise – namely, that computers were removed from Receivership Entities’ offices  
– is true or not. The alleged acts took place before this Court appointed the plaintiff as Receiver. 
The Receiver further answers that, even assuming the premise to be true, the Receiver has made 
reasonable inquiry and the information he knows or can readily obtain does not permit him to 
admit or deny this request.   
 
 
Even assuming the premise of this request to be true, the Receiver denies it. Bradley Smallfield 
testified that “one guy” responded to Smallfield’s question about “computer problems,” 
indicating that “Windows Vista” was crashing the computers. That certain computers contained 
Windows Vista would, in part, “describe  some of the content” of those computers.   
 
REQUEST NO. 72: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that contents of the computers that Patrick 
Kiley, Trevor Cook, and Graham Cook removed from the Receivership Entities’ offices at the 
Price Security Bank Building in July 2009 can be restored or replaced through additional 
discovery. 
 
ANSWER: The Receiver cannot truthfully admit or deny this request because it does not know 
whether the premise – namely, that computers were removed from Receivership Entities’ offices  
– is true or not. The alleged acts took place before this Court appointed the plaintiff as Receiver. 
The Receiver further answers that, even assuming the premise to be true, the Receiver has made 
reasonable inquiry and that the information he knows or can readily obtain does not permit him 
to admit or deny this request 
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REQUEST NO. 73: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that contradicts Julia Smith Gilsrud’s 
testimony that in July 2009 paper documents went missing from her work area at the 
Receivership Entities’ Tiffany Court office. Hr’g Tr. at 73:1-11, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading 
Comm’n v. Cook, Case No. 09-cv-03332-MJD-FLN (D. Minn. Jan. 8, 2010). 
 
ANSWER:  The Receiver admits that he does not have evidence contradicting Ms. Smith 
Gilsrud’s testimony that certain files “went missing,” to the extent that the request suggests that 
such files were moved from where she stored them under her desk. The Receiver denies that it 
lacks evidence contradicting Ms. Smith Gilsrud’s testimony that “copies of all the wires that [she] 
had done for Trevor [Cook] are “missing” – i.e., that such documents no longer exist.   
 
REQUEST NO. 74: 
 

Admit or deny that You do not have evidence that contradicts Julia Smith Gilsrud’s 
testimony that in July 2009 files went missing from her computer at the Receivership Entities’ 
Tiffany Court office. Hr’g Tr. at 71:19-72:25, U.S. Commodity Futures Trading Comm’n v. Cook, Case 
No. 09-cv-03332-MJD-FLN (D. Minn. Jan. 8, 2010). 
 
ANSWER:  The Receiver admits that Julia Smith testified that certain files appeared to be 
missing from her work computer. The Receiver denies that he lacks evidence contradicting the 
implication that the files remained missing. Ms. Smith Gilsrud testified that she made Graham 
Cook aware that certain files appeared to be missing and that she needed these files. Ms. Smith 
Gilsrud further testified that Mr. Graham Cook told Ms. Smith that after switching her computer 
with a new computer, he would “swap the documents that [she] still needed.” Ms. Smith 
Gilsrud’s request and Mr. Graham Cook’s response are evidence that such files did not remain 
“missing” from her computer. 
 
REQUEST NO. 75: 
 

Admit or deny that the Oxford Private Client Group, LLC did at times manage 
legitimate securities investments on behalf of certain clients. 

 
ANSWER:  Admitted. 
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/s/ William W. Flachsbart 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned attorney of record certifies that on February 16, 2016, copies of the 
foregoing document were served upon counsel for Defendant via e-mail to the following 
addresses: 
 

Alex C. Lakatos: alakatos@mayerbrown.com 
Stephen M. Medlock: smedlock@mayerbrown.com 
E. Brantley Webb: bwebb@mayerbrown.com 
Charles F. Webber: chuck.webber@FaegreBD.com 
  

 
 
 

/s/ William W. Flachsbart 
William W. Flachsbart 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA  

 
R.J. ZAYED, in His Capacity as Court- 
Appointed Receiver for the Oxford Global  
Partners, LLC, Universal Brokerage, FX, and  
Other Receiver Entities, 
     

Plaintiff, 
 vs.     
 
ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A.,  
   

Defendant. 

 
 
 
Case No. 13-cv-00232 (DSD-JM) 

 
 

   
PLAINTIFF R.J. ZAYED’S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A.’S 

FIRST SET OF REQUESTS FOR ADMISSION 
 

Plaintiff R.J. Zayed hereby objects and responds to Defendant Associated Bank, N.A.’s 

First Set of Requests for Admission, as follows: 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

These responses, while based upon diligent exploration by Plaintiff and his counsel, 

reflect the current status of Plaintiff’s knowledge, understanding, and belief responding to the 

matter about which Defendant has inquired.  Discovery in this action has just begun and is 

continuing.  Consequently, Plaintiff may not yet have discovered all documents, information, or 

facts pertinent to these requests to admit, and may not yet have identified or located all persons 

with knowledge or pertinent information or facts.  As discovery in this action proceeds, Plaintiff 

anticipates that he will discover additional or different documents, information, or facts.  

Plaintiff reserves the right to modify or supplement his individual responses with pertinent 

documents, information, or facts, as discovery continues. Furthermore, these responses are 

without prejudice to Plaintiff’s right to use or rely on at any time, including trial, any 

documents, information, or facts omitted from these responses for any reason, including as a 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned attorney of record certifies that on September 23, 2015, copies of the 
foregoing document were served upon counsel for Defendant via e-mail and U.S. Mail to the 
following addresses: 
 

Alex C. Lakatos: alakatos@mayerbrown.com 
Stephen M. Medlock: smedlock@mayerbrown.com 
E. Brantley Webb: bwebb@mayerbrown.com 
Mayer Brown LLP 
1999 K Street NW 
Washington, DC 20006 
 
Charles F. Webber: chuck.webber@FaegreBD.com 
Faegre Baker Daniels LLP 
2200 Wells Fargo Center 
90 South Seventh Street 
Minneapolis, MN 55402-3901  

 
 
 

/s/ William W. Flachsbart 
William W. Flachsbart 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 
R.J. ZAYED, in His Capacity as Court- 
Appointed Receiver for the Oxford Global  
Partners, LLC, Universal Brokerage, FX,  
and Other Receiver Entities, 
     

Plaintiff, 
 vs.     
 
ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A.,  
   

Defendant. 

 
 
 
Case No. 13-cv-00232 (DSD-JM) 

 
 

   
PLAINTIFF R.J. ZAYED’S SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT 

ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A.’S FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES 
 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

Plaintiff R.J. Zayed hereby provides supplemental responses to Defendant’s Interrogatory 

Nos. 15-19 following the parties’ November 19, 2015 meeting and conference. Plaintiff originally 

objected that Defendant’s First Set of Interrogatories exceeded the maximum number allowed 

under the discovery Order (ECF No. 82 at 5) when all discrete subparts were counted. Because 

Defendant voluntarily withdrew Interrogatory No. 14 during the meet-and-confer process, 

Plaintiff now provides supplemental responses to Interrogatory Nos. 15-19.  

Plaintiff incorporates by reference both the preliminary statement and general objections 

from his original responses as if fully set forth herein.  

INTERROGATORY NO. 15 

Describe with specificity all steps you took to collect, preserve, process, and produce 

documents and/or electronically stored information related to this action, including (i) the date 

that documents were collected, (ii) the date that you provided a litigation hold or similar notice to 

persons with documents or electronically stored information relevant to this ligation, (iii) the 
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identity of any officer, director, or employee of any Cook-Kiley Entity from whom you collected 

documents, (iv) the methods you used to collect and store document and electronically stored 

information, (v) any search terms you applied prior to producing documents in this litigation, and 

(vi) the identity of any documents or electronically stored information belonging to any Cook-

Kiley Entity that was partially or entirely deleted or destroyed. 

ORIGINAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 15 

In addition to the general objections, Plaintiff further objects to this Interrogatory to the 

extent it is compound and has multiple discrete sub-parts, as indicated above by the addition of 

bracketed numbers, and therefore, counts as more than one Interrogatory under the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Plaintiff further objects that this interrogatory is in excess of this Court’s Order regarding 

the limitation on the number of interrogatories that may be served in this case (ECF No. 82 at 5 

(“No more than 35 interrogatories (including all subparts) shall be served by one party on 

another party.”)). Plaintiff will therefore not provide an answer to this interrogatory. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 15 

Subject to and without waiving any objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:  

The steps taken to collect, preserve, process, and produce documents and/or 

electronically stored information related to this action included hiring Waypoint Inc. As a result, 

the Receiver is in possession of documents and over sixty imaged hard drives that were seized 

from computers found at properties used by the Receivership entities.  

No search terms were applied prior to producing documents in this litigation. The 

Receiver has no knowledge as to the identity of any document or electronically stored 

information belonging to any Cook-Kiley Entity that was partially or entirely deleted or 

destroyed.  
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Pursuant to Rule 33(d), see WAYPOINT0001-WAYPOINT00026.  

INTERROGATORY NO. 16 

For each investor in the Ponzi Scheme, at the most specific level possible, identify the 

following information regarding each transfer of funds between that investor made and a Cook-

Kiley Entity: (i) the name of the investor who sent or received the transfer, (ii) the date of the 

transfer, (iii) the amount of the transfer, (iv) the financial institution and account where the funds 

originated; (v) the financial institution and account where the funds were received and deposited, 

and (vi) the amount of the investor’s funds that were invested in foreign currencies, foreign 

exchange products, or foreign currency arbitrage. 

ORIGINAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 16 

In addition to the general objections, Plaintiff further objects to this Interrogatory to the 

extent it is compound and has multiple discrete sub-parts, as indicated above by the addition of 

bracketed numbers, and therefore, counts as more than one Interrogatory under the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure. Plaintiff further objects that the amount of the investor’s funds that 

were invested in foreign currencies, foreign exchange products, or foreign currency arbitrage is 

not relevant. 

Plaintiff further objects that this interrogatory is in excess of this Court’s Order regarding 

the limitation on the number of interrogatories that may be served in this case (ECF No. 82 at 5 

(“No more than 35 interrogatories (including all subparts) shall be served by one party on 

another party.”)). Plaintiff will therefore not provide an answer to this interrogatory. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 16 

Subject to and without waiving any objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:  

Pursuant to Rule 33(d), see Decl. of Scott J. Hlavacek at ¶ 35, SEC v. Trevor Cook, No. 09-

cv-3333 (D. Minn. Nov. 23, 2009) at ECF No. 4 (attached to Complaint in this action as Exhibit 
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12); ECF No. 42-9 (spreadsheet tracing money flow in and out of account #1705); documents 

bearing Bates Nos. AB9503-9577; Excel spreadsheet prepared by Mr. Hlavcek that was attached 

to Plaintiff’s Supplemental Rule 26(a)(1) Initial Disclosures.  

INTERROGATORY NO. 17 

For each investor in the Ponzi Scheme, identify the following information regarding 

recovered or returned funds: (i) the total amount of funds that were returned to the investor by 

any Cook-Kiley Entity, and (ii) any funds that You recovered and paid to the investor. 

ORIGINAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 17 

In addition to the general objections, Plaintiff further objects to this Interrogatory to the 

extent it is compound and has multiple discrete sub-parts, as indicated above by the addition of 

bracketed numbers, and therefore, counts as more than one Interrogatory under the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure. 

Plaintiff further objects that this interrogatory is in excess of this Court’s Order regarding 

the limitation on the number of interrogatories that may be served in this case (ECF No. 82 at 5 

(“No more than 35 interrogatories (including all subparts) shall be served by one party on 

another party.”)). Plaintiff will therefore not provide an answer to this interrogatory. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 17 

Subject to and without waiving any objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:  

On November 1, 2010, the Court entered an Order in the civil cases of SEC v. Cook and 

CFTC v. Cook authorizing the Receiver to distribute $2.25 million to claimants.  This first interim 

distribution, which was made on a pro rata basis based on each claimant’s Recognized Claim 

Amount, translated to 1.581 cents paid out for every dollar lost to the Ponzi scheme. The 

Receiver’s interim distribution checks were mailed on November 12, 2010.  
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The Court also directed the Receiver to release $363,700 for use as restitution in the 

criminal case against Trevor Cook.  This criminal restitution was distributed by the U.S. 

Probation Office in November 2010.  With the criminal restitution, the total median distribution 

rate was approximately 1.815 cents for every dollar lost to the fraud. 

On May 5, 2011, as directed by the Court, the Receiver mailed supplemental distribution 

checks to claimants based on adjustments made to their Recognized Claim Amounts.  

After the November 1, 2010 Order, the Court also directed the Receiver to make a 

supplemental interim distribution to employee claimants who were not part of the first interim 

distribution, and to not deduct any compensation that they may have received from Receivership 

Entities.  Employee claimants were paid out on the same pro rata basis as the other 

investors.  Interim distribution checks were mailed to employee claimants on November 30, 

2010.  

 On August 1, 2011, the Court entered an Order in the civil cases of SEC v. Cook, CFTC v. 

Cook, and SEC v. Beckman authorizing the Receiver to make an interim distribution of 

$1,027,729.04 that the Receiver repatriated from Trevor Cook’s Swiss bank account at UBS AG. 

This second interim distribution was made to claimants identified in the Receiver’s First 

Amended Final Claims List. This distribution, which was made on a pro rata basis based on each 

claimant’s Recognized Claim Amount, translated to 0.71 cents paid out for every dollar lost to 

the Ponzi scheme and brought the total median distribution rate to approximately 2.5 cents for 

every dollar lost to the fraud. The checks for this distribution were mailed on August 2, 2011.   

On February 24, 2012, the Court entered an Order in the civil cases of SEC v. Cook, 

CFTC v. Cook, and SEC v. Beckman approving the Receiver’s partial settlement with the FINRA 

Claimants and authorizing the Receiver to distribute these settlement funds to investors. This 

third interim distribution was made to claimants identified in the Receiver’s First Amended Final 

CASE 0:13-cv-00232-DSD-JSM   Document 117-2   Filed 04/12/16   Page 36 of 79



 
 6 

Claims List. This distribution, which was made on a pro rata basis based on each claimant’s 

Recognized Claim Amount, translated to 0.95 cents paid out for every dollar lost to the Ponzi 

scheme and brought the total median distribution rate to approximately 3.5 cents for every dollar 

lost to the fraud. The checks for this distribution were mailed on March 28, 2012.   

On March 23, 2012, the Court entered an Order Approving the Distribution of Proceeds 

from the Settlements with Western and NRP.  The distribution of the NRP and Western 

settlement funds, which was made on a pro rata basis based on each claimant’s Recognized Claim 

Amount, translated to 0.8 cents paid out for every dollar lost to the Ponzi scheme and brought 

the total median distribution rate to approximately 4.3 cents for every dollar lost to the fraud. 

The checks for this distribution were mailed on May 7, 2012.  

On June 7, 2013, the Court entered an Order Approving the Fifth Interim Distribution. 

This distribution of approximately $1.7 million, which was made on a pro rata basis based on each 

claimant’s Recognized Claim Amount, translated to 1.2 cents paid out for every dollar lost to the 

Ponzi scheme, bringing the total median distribution rate to approximately 5.5 cents for every 

dollar lost to the fraud. The checks for this distribution were mailed on or about June 10, 11, and 

12, 2013. However, several investors voluntarily opted out of the Fourth Interim Distribution, 

which distributed the proceeds from the Receiver’s settlement with NRP and Western. The pro 

rata rate for those investors as of the Fifth Interim Distribution is 4.7 cents per dollar lost. The pro 

rata distribution rate for those investors will always be 0.8% below the median recovery rate for 

all other claimants. 

On January 16, 2014, the Court entered an Order Approving the Sixth Interim 

Distribution. This distribution of approximately $1 million, which was made on a pro rata basis 

based on each claimant’s Recognized Claim Amount, translated to 0.7 cents paid out for every 

dollar lost to the Ponzi scheme, bringing the total median distribution rate to approximately 6.2 
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cents for every dollar lost to the fraud.  The checks for this distribution were mailed on or about 

January 24, 2014. 

On December 18, 2014, the Court entered an Order Approving the Seventh Interim 

Distribution. This distribution of $1,001,000.00 translated to 0.7 cents paid out for every dollar 

lost to the Ponzi scheme, bringing the total median distribution rate to approximately 6.9%. The 

checks for this distribution were mailed on or about December 19, 2014. 

 Pursuant to Rule 33(d), see Hlavcek Decl. at ¶ 35; ECF No. 42-9 (spreadsheet tracing 

money flow in and out of account #1705); Excel spreadsheet prepared by Mr. Hlavcek that was 

attached to Plaintiff’s Supplemental Rule 26(a)(1) Initial Disclosures; Seventeenth Status Report 

of Receiver R.J. Zayed, CFTC v. Cook, No. 09-cv-3332 (D. Minn. Nov. 25, 2015) at ECF No. 

1187 (discussing disbursements made by the Receiver). 

INTERROGATORY NO. 18 

Describe with specificity your factual basis for denying Associated Bank’s first Request for 

Admission. 

ORIGINAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 18 

In addition to the general objections, Plaintiff further objects that this interrogatory is in 

excess of this Court’s Order regarding the limitation on the number of interrogatories that may 

be served in this case (ECF No. 82 at 5 (“No more than 35 interrogatories (including all subparts) 

shall be served by one party on another party.”)). Plaintiff will therefore not provide an answer to 

this interrogatory. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 18 

Associated Bank’s Request for Admission No. 1 asked the Receiver to admit that: 

During the relevant time period, no Employee of any Cook-Kiley Entity 
communicated the existence of the Ponzi Scheme to any Employee of Associated 
Bank.  
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The Bank defined “communicated” as:  

any oral, written, or symbolic expression, or interchange of any type, and includes without 
limitation letters, memoranda, facsimile transmission, facsimile cover pages, 
teletypes, telegraphs, telephone conversations, telephone logs, telephone records, 
electronic mail messages, voicemail messages, and any and all “cc” or “bcc” 
copies of the above.” 
 

Based on the breadth of this definition, “symbolic expressions” or “interchanges of any type” 

between employees of any Cook-Kiley entity and any Associated Bank employee, concerning the 

Ponzi Scheme would require denial of this request to admit. As set forth in the Complaint, there 

are numerous expressions and interchanges by Cook-Kiley entity employees to Bank employees 

that show the existence of the Ponzi scheme. 

INTERROGATORY NO. 19 

Describe with specificity your factual basis for denying Associated Bank’s tenth Request 

for Admission. 

ORIGINAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 19 

In addition to the general objections, Plaintiff further objects that this interrogatory is in 

excess of this Court’s Order regarding the limitation on the number of interrogatories that may 

be served in this case (ECF No. 82 at 5 (“No more than 35 interrogatories (including all subparts) 

shall be served by one party on another party.”)). Plaintiff will therefore not provide an answer to 

this interrogatory. 

SUPPLEMENTAL RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 19 

Subject to and without waiving any objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:  

It is the Receiver’s understanding that Sarles attended poker games with Employees of 

the Cook-Kiley Entities. Money was exchanged at these events.  
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Dated: January 12, 2016 Respectfully submitted, 
 
/s/ William W. Flachsbart 

 Tara C. Norgard (MN Bar No. 307,683) 
Brian W. Hayes (MN Bar No. 294,585) 
Russell J. Rigby (MN Bar No. 323,652) 
CARLSON, CASPERS, 
VANDENBURGH, LINDQUIST & 
SCHUMAN, P.A. 
225 S. 6th Street, Suite 4200 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
Telephone: (612) 436-9600 
Fax: (612) 436-9605 
Email: bhayes@carlsoncaspers.com 
 
SPECIAL LITIGATION COUNSEL 
 
Keith A. Vogt (pro hac vice) 
IL Bar No. 6207971 
1033 South Blvd, Suite 200 
Oak Park, IL 60302 
Telephone: (708) 203-4787 
Email: keithvogtjd@gmail.com 
 
William W. Flachsbart (pro hac vice) 
IL Bar No. 6237069 
Robert P. Greenspoon (pro hac vice) 
IL. Bar No. 6229357 
Michael R. La Porte (pro hac vice) 
IL. Bar No. 6237510 
FLACHSBART & GREENSPOON, LLC 
333 N. Michigan Ave., 27th Floor 
Chicago, IL 60601-3901 
Telephone: (312) 551-9500 
Email: wwf@fg-law.com 
Email: rpg@fg-law.com 
Email: mrl@fg-law.com 
 
D. Timothy McVey (pro hac vice) 
IL Bar. No. 6182134 
MCVEY & PARSKY, LLC 
30 N. LaSalle St., Ste. 2100 
Chicago, IL 60602-2575 
Telephone: (312) 551-2130 
Email: dtm@mcveyparsky-law.com 
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff R.J. Zayed, in his Capacity 
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as Court-Appointed Receiver 
 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned attorney of record certifies that on January 12, 2016, copies of the 
foregoing document were served upon counsel for Defendant via e-mail to the following 
addresses: 
 

Alex C. Lakatos: alakatos@mayerbrown.com 
Stephen M. Medlock: smedlock@mayerbrown.com 
E. Brantley Webb: bwebb@mayerbrown.com 
Charles F. Webber: chuck.webber@FaegreBD.com 

  
 
 
 

/s/ William W. Flachsbart 
William W. Flachsbart 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 
 

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES  
TRADING COMMISSION,  
 
  Plaintiff(s)    Case No: 09-cv-3332 MJD/JJK 
 
v. 
 
TREVOR COOK d/b/a CROWN  
FOREX, LLC, PATRICK KILEY d/b/a 
CROWN FOREX, LLC, UNIVERSAL 
BROKERAGE FX and UNIVERSAL  
BROKERAGE FX DIVERSIFIED, OXFORD 
GLOBAL PARTNERS, LLC, OXFORD 
GLOBAL ADVISORS, LLC, UNIVERAL  
BROKERAGE FX ADVISORS, LLC f/k/a  
UBS DIVERSIFIED FX ADVISORS, LLC,  
UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE FX  
GROWTH, L.P. f/k/a UBS DIVERSIFIED FX 
GROWTH L.P., UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE 
FX MANAGEMENT, LLC f/k/a UBS  
DIVERSIFIED FX MANAGEMENT, LLC 
and UBS DIVERSIFIED GROWTH, LLC,  
 
   Defendant(s) 
 
R.J. ZAYED, 
 
   Receiver  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 
UNITED STATES SECURITIES 
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,   Case No: 09-cv-3333 MJD/JJK  
 
   Plaintiff(s)    
 
v. 
 
TREVOR G. COOK,  
PATRICK J. KILEY,  
UBS DIVERSIFIED GROWTH, LLC,  
UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE FX 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, 
OXFORD GLOBAL ADVISORS, LLC,  
and OXFORD GLOBAL PARTNERS, LLC, 
 
   Defendants 
  
  and  
 
BASEL GROUP, LLC,  
CROWN FOREX, LLC,  
MARKET SHOT, LLC,  
PFG COIN AND BULLION,  
OXFORD DEVELOPERS, S.A.,  
OXFORD FX GROWTH, L.P.,  
OXFORD GLOBAL MANAGED  
FUTURES FUND, L.P., UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX ADVISORS, LLC, UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX GROWTH, L.P., UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX MANAGEMENT, LLC, CLIFFORD  
BERG, and ELLEN BERG, 
 
   Relief Defendants. 
 
R.J. ZAYED, 
 
   Receiver.   
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PETITION FOR RETURN OF RECEIVERSHIP ASSETS FROM INVESTOR 
RESPONDENTS 

 
Pursuant to this Court's Orders dated November 23, 2009, and July 20, 2010, 

Receiver R. J. Zayed, (“Receiver”) hereby brings this Petition for Return of Receivership 

Assets from Investor Respondents against David Buysse, Steven and Pamela Cheney, 

Walter Defiel, John Dzik, Terry Frahm, Steven and Jenene Fredell, William Harris, 

Michael and Jennifer Heise, Michael and Cynthia Hillesheim, Larry Hopfenspirger, 

Steven Kautzman, James McIntosh, George and Karen Morrisset, Reynold Sundstrom, 

and Dot Anderson (collectively, the “Respondents”) on behalf of the Defendants and 

Relief-Defendants in SEC v. Cook et al., 09-cv-3333, and CFTC v. Cook et al., 09-cv-

3332, to recover funds properly belonging to all the defrauded investors who were 

victims of Trevor Cook's Ponzi scheme (“the scheme”). 

Specifically, the Receiver seeks an order (1) requiring each Respondent to 

disgorge all Receivership funds transferred to him or her on or after June 29, 2009 and 

(2) entering judgment against each Respondent in an amount equal to all of such 

Receivership funds he or she received.  In support of this Petition, the Receiver states as 

follows: 

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

1. On November 23, 2009, the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 

and the Commodities Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) filed separate lawsuits 

against Trevor Cook, Patrick Kiley, and various entities controlled by them (collectively 

referred to as the “Receivership Entities”).  Complaint, No. 09-cv-3333, Docket No. 1 
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(Nov. 23, 2009) (“SEC case”); Complaint for Injunctive and Other Equitable Relief and 

For Penalties under the Commodity Exchange Act, No. 09-cv-3332, Docket No. 1 (Nov. 

23, 2009) (“CFTC case”).   

2. Trevor Cook has since admitted to, among other things, knowingly and 

intentionally creating and executing a scheme and artifice to defraud.  See United States 

v. Trevor Gilson Cook, No. 10-cr-00075, Docket No. 7, at 1–3 (April 13, 2010).    

Victims of the scheme include over 1,000 investors who were defrauded of over 

$190,000,000.  Id. 

3. On November 23, 2009, the Court established a Receivership in the related 

SEC and CFTC cases, appointed R.J. Zayed as Receiver, and froze all assets of the 

Receivership Entities.  See Order Appointing Receiver, SEC Docket No. 13 (Nov. 23, 

2009); see also Amended Order Appointing Receiver, SEC Docket No. 18 (Nov. 24, 

2009); Second Amended Order Appointing Receiver, SEC Docket No. 68 (Dec. 11, 

2009); Order Imposing Asset Freeze and Other Ancillary Relief, SEC Docket No. 14 

(Nov. 23, 2009); Order Identifying Frozen Accounts, SEC Docket No. 15 (Nov. 23, 

2009); Ex Parte Statutory Restraining Order, CFTC Docket No. 21 (Nov. 23, 2009); 

Order Continuing Appointment of Temporary Receiver, CFTC Docket No. 96 (Dec. 11, 

2009).  

4. The purpose of the Receivership is to marshal, preserve, account for, and 

liquidate the assets of the Receivership.  Order Continuing Appointment of Temporary 

Receiver, CFTC Docket No. 96, at 3.  To accomplish this, the Receiver must take control 

of all assets of the Receivership—“wherever located”—including investor money 
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transferred to third parties. 

5. On July 20, 2010, the Court entered an Order authorizing the Receiver to 

commence summary proceedings within the SEC and CFTC cases to recover 

Receivership funds transferred to third parties.  The Court retained jurisdiction of this 

matter for all purposes.  See Order of Preliminary Injunction, Asset Freeze, and Other 

Ancillary Relief, SEC Docket No. 51, at 15 (Dec. 8, 2009); Order Allowing Summary 

Proceedings, SEC Docket No. 380 (July 20, 2010); Order Allowing Summary 

Proceedings, CFTC Docket No. 350 (July 20, 2010). 

PARTIES 

6. The Petitioner is Receiver R.J. Zayed. 

7. Each Respondent received disbursements in the State of Minnesota and/or 

has a Minnesota bank account.  Upon information and belief, each Respondent is a 

Minnesota resident or was a Minnesota resident during the time relevant to this action: 

a. Respondent David Buysse resides in Goodhue County, Minnesota; 

b. Respondents Steven and Pamela Cheney reside in Clearwater 

County, Minnesota; 

c. Respondent Walter Defiel resides in Ramsey County, Minnesota; 

d. Respondent John Dzik resides in Hennepin County, Minnesota; 

e. Respondent Terry Frahm resides in Dakota County, Minnesota; 

f. Respondents Steven and Jenene Fredell reside in Dakota County, 

Minnesota; 

g. Respondent William Harris resides in Wright County, Minnesota; 
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h. Respondents Michael and Jennifer Heise reside in Scott County, 

Minnesota;  

i. Respondents Michael and Cynthia Hillesheim reside in Brown 

County, Minnesota; 

j. Respondent Larry Hopfenspirger resides in Hennepin County, 

Minnesota; 

k. Respondent Steven Kautzman resides in Sherburne County, 

Minnesota; 

l. Respondent James McIntosh resides in Orange County, California. 

m. Respondents George and Karen Morrisset reside in Ramsey County, 

Minnesota; 

n. Respondent Reynold Sundstrom resides in Sherburne County, 

Minnesota; 

o. Respondent Dot Anderson resides in Stearns County, Minnesota. 

8. Each Respondent will be served with this Petition pursuant to Rule 4 of the 

Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, through his or her attorney of record, or by other means 

approved by order of this Court. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has jurisdiction over this action, and venue is proper, under 

Section 22(a) of the Securities Act (15 U.S.C. § 77v(a)), Section 27 of the Exchange Act 

(15 U.S.C. § 78aa), Section 6d of the Commodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. § 13a-2(2)), 

Chapter 49 of Title 28, Judiciary and Judicial Procedure (28 U.S.C. § 754), Chapter 113 
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of Title 28, Judiciary and Judicial Procedure (28 U.S.C. § 1692), and Chapter 85 of Title 

28, Judiciary and Judicial Procedure (28 U.S.C. § 1367(a)). 

10. Further, as the Court that appointed the Receiver, this Court has jurisdiction 

over any claim brought by the Receiver in furtherance of his Receivership powers and 

duties, including Summary Proceedings as per the Court’s July 20, 2010 Order.  See 

Order of Preliminary Injunction, Asset Freeze, and Other Ancillary Relief, SEC Docket 

No. 51, at 15 (Dec. 8, 2009); Order Allowing Summary Proceedings, SEC Docket No. 

380 (July 20, 2010); Order Allowing Summary Proceedings, CFTC Docket No. 350 (July 

20, 2010). 

11. Further, within ten days of his appointment, the Receiver filed the original 

Complaint and Order Appointing the Receiver in all United States District Courts 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 754 and 1692, giving this Court in rem and in personam 

jurisdiction in each district where the Complaint and Order have been filed. 

12. This Court is the proper venue because a substantial part of the events 

resulting in the transfer of the property that is the subject of this petition occurred in 

Minnesota.  

FACTS 

A. Trevor Cook Operated a Ponzi Scheme. 

13. From on or about a date unknown through about November 2009, Trevor 

Gilson Cook, aided and abetted by others, knowingly and intentionally created, devised, 

executed, and attempted to execute a scheme and artifice to defraud, and to obtain money 

and other things of value, by means of materially false and misleading statements and 
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representations.  United States v. Trevor Gilson Cook, No. 10-cr-00075, Docket No. 7, at 

1–3. 

14. On April 13, 2010, Trevor Gilson Cook pled guilty to one count of mail 

fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341) and one count of tax evasion (26 U.S.C. § 7201) in connection 

with his role in the Ponzi scheme. Id. at 1.   

15. During the course of the scheme, Cook, using the Receivership Entities, 

raised at least $190,000,000 from at least 1,000 investors by selling investments in a 

purported foreign currency trading program (“Trading Program”).  Id. at 2.  Investments 

in the Trading Program generated substantially all of the income for the Receivership 

Entities.  Id.  

16. In furtherance of the scheme, Cook caused false statements to be made to 

investors, including but not limited to, promising that the Trading Program would 

generate annual returns of 10% to 12% and that the currency trading involved little or no 

risk to the investors' principal.  Id. at 2. 

17. In furtherance of the scheme, Cook caused material information to be 

withheld from investors, including his knowledge of the precarious financial position—

and eventual bankruptcy—of Crown Forex, SA, a Swiss entity through which Cook was 

purportedly placing currency trades. 

18. In furtherance of the scheme, Cook caused an account to be opened in the 

name of Crown Forex LLC at Associated Bank, where he caused investor funds to be 

deposited and then diverted for his personal use.  Id. at 2.   
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19. In furtherance of the scheme, Cook caused statements to be sent to 

investors that misrepresented the value of their investments in the Trading Program.  Id. 

at 2-3. 

20. In furtherance of the scheme, Cook withheld from the investors the fact that 

he was using their money for non-investment purposes, including, but not limited to 

paying off other investors in the scheme.  Id. at 3.  See also Order Allowing Summary 

Proceedings, SEC Docket No. 380 (July 20, 2010); Order Allowing Summary 

Proceedings, CFTC Docket No. 350 (July 20, 2010). 

21. All assets transferred from or by any Receivership entity named in the 

above-captioned lawsuits, at least through November 23, 2009, were transferred pursuant 

to the Ponzi scheme. Order Allowing Summary Proceedings, SEC Docket No. 380, at 3 

(July 20, 2010); Order Allowing Summary Proceedings, CFTC Docket No. 350, at 3 

(July 20, 2010). 

22. All assets transferred from or by Cook, from at least August 2005 through 

at least November 23, 2009, were transferred pursuant to the Ponzi scheme. Order 

Allowing Summary Proceedings, SEC Docket No. 380, at 3 (July 20, 2010); Order 

Allowing Summary Proceedings, CFTC Docket No. 350, at 3 (July 20, 2010). 

B.   At All Relevant Times Trevor Cook Was Aware that His Ponzi Scheme Was 
Under Investigation By Authorities 

 
23. By no later than in or about January 2008 Trevor Cook was aware that 

Crown Forex S.A. was insolvent and incapable of paying its investors.   

24. By no later than in or about December 2008 Cook was aware that Swiss 
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authorities were investigating Crown Forex SA and were shutting down its operations.   

25. Cook was aware that FINRA visited his scheme's headquarters to 

investigate one of his partners in April 2009.   

26. By no later than in or about May 2009 Cook was aware that Swiss 

authorities had placed Crown Forex SA into liquidation.   

27. On June 22, 2009, the SEC conducted a surprise investigation of the 

scheme's headquarters and personally served Cook with a subpoena.   

28. The SEC's investigation continued for five days during which up to six SEC 

attorneys and accountants were on the premises. 

29. Thus by no later than June 22, 2009 Cook was aware that the SEC was 

investigating the scheme and the Receivership Entities.   

30. Upon information and belief, Clifford Berg (“Berg”)—Cook’s father-in-

law—was aware of the SEC investigation by no later than by June 26, 2010.   

C. Each Respondent Received Preferential Transfers of Receivership Funds 
Pursuant to the Scheme After Mid-June, 2009. 
 
31. Upon information and belief, each Respondent received at least one 

preferential transfer pursuant to the scheme and consisting of Receivership funds, as 

detailed in Exhibits 1 and 2 (attached)  and below, after Cook became aware that Crown 

Forex SA was in liquidation and that his Ponzi scheme had been discovered by the SEC:   

a. Upon information and belief, Respondent David Buysse was a 

personal acquaintance of Berg from his involvement in the carpet industry.  Through 

Berg, Buysse invested $147,233.00 in the Trading Program.  Buysse did not request any 
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withdrawal, but in late June, 2009, he received a call from Berg during which Berg told 

him that his account would be closed and that he would receive a check.  Buysse received 

a check for $360,700.00, dated June 29, 2009.  Buysse received a total of $360,700.00 on 

or after June 29, 2009.   

b. Upon information and belief, Respondent Steven Cheney was a 

personal acquaintance of Berg from his involvement in the carpet industry.  Through 

Berg, Cheney invested $1,519,999.51 in the Trading Program and his wife Pamela 

invested $100,963.00 in the Trading Program.  Before late June 2009, the Cheneys 

received periodic withdrawals totaling $196,350.00. Cheney called Trevor Cook during 

the last week in June 2009, to inquire about investing more money for his nephew.  Cook 

told Cheney that there were problems in “another part” of the company.  The next day, 

Cheney called Cook and requested withdrawal of his money.  Cheney never completed 

any withdrawal paperwork.  Several days later, Berg delivered to Cheney's place of 

business a check made out to Steven Cheney in the amount of $1,535,300.00, dated June 

29, 2009, and a check made out to Pamela Cheney in the amount of $101,000.00, dated 

June 29, 2009.  The Cheneys received a total of $1,636,300.00 on or after June 29, 2009.   

c. Upon information and belief, Respondent Walter Defiel was a 

personal acquaintance of Berg from his involvement in the carpet industry.  Through 

Berg, Defiel invested $80,000.00 in the Trading Program.  Defiel did not complete 

paperwork requesting withdrawal of his investment.  Defiel received a check for 

$94,950.00 dated June 29, 2009.  Defiel received a total of $94,950.00 on or after June 

29, 2009.   
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d. Upon information and belief, Respondent John Dzik was a personal 

acquaintance of Berg from his involvement in the carpet industry.  Through Berg, Dzik 

invested $618,000.00 in the Trading Program.  Dzik did not request any withdrawal, but 

in late June 2009, he received a call from Berg during which Berg told him that there 

were “problems with the company.”  Berg also mentioned a possible investigation.  Dzik 

then went to Berg's house to pick up a check for $747,500.00, dated June 29, 2009.  Dzik 

also received three additional checks—one for $2,100.00, dated July 15, 2009, a second 

for $2,100.00, dated July 23, 2009, and a third for $2,200.00, dated August 1, 2009.  Dzik 

received a total of $753,900.00 on or after June 29, 2010.   

e. Upon information and belief, Respondent Terry Frahm learned about 

the Trading Program through his wife, who is Berg's dental hygienist and who learned 

about the Trading Program from Berg.  Frahm invested $785,162.44 in the scheme.  

Frahm never completed official paperwork for withdrawal.  Frahm received two 

checks—one for $793,370.00, dated June 29, 2009 and a second for $123,200.00, also 

dated June 29, 2009.  Frahm received a total of $916,570.00 on or after June 29, 2009. 

f. Upon information and belief, Respondents Steven and Jenene 

Fredell were personal acquaintances of Berg.  Through Berg, the Fredells invested 

$243,500.00 in the Trading Program.  The Fredells did not request any withdrawal, but in 

late June 2009, Steven Fredell received a call from Berg during which Berg told him that 

accounts had been closed and that checks were in the mail.  The Fredells received one 

check for $25,700.00, dated June 29, 2009, a second check for $243,250.00, also dated 
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June 29, 2009, and a third check for $12,000.00, dated July 1, 2009.  The Fredells 

received a total of $280,950.00 on or after June 29, 2009. 

g. Upon information and belief, Respondent William Harris was a 

personal acquaintance of Berg from his involvement in the carpet industry.  Through 

Berg, Harris invested $375,000.00 in the Trading Program.  Harris did not complete 

paperwork requesting withdrawal of his money.  On June 28, 2009, Harris received a call 

from Berg during which Berg told Harris that there was going to be “some sort of 

investigation.”  Harris received a check for $413,600.00, dated June 29, 2009, several 

days later.  Harris received a total of $413,600.00 on or after June 29, 2009.   

h. Upon information and belief, Respondent Michael Heise became a 

personal acquaintance of Berg when he bought carpet for his company from Berg.  

Through Berg, Heise invested $752,134.00 in the Trading Program.  Heise requested and 

received a withdrawal of $2,770.00 before June 2009.  In late June 2009, Heise received 

a call from Berg during which Berg told Heise that there was some kind of investigation 

and that Berg had “cashed everyone out.”  Berg then delivered to Heise's company a first 

check for $728,700.00, dated June 29, 2009 and a second check for $67,211.53, dated 

July 1, 2009.  Heise received a total of $795,911.53 on or after June 29, 2009.   

i. Upon information and belief, Respondent Cynthia Hillesheim 

became a personal acquaintance of Berg through her job at a carpet store for which Berg 

was a sales representative.  Through Berg, Hillesheim and her husband Michael invested 

$220,079.00 in the Trading Program.  The Hillesheims did not request any withdrawals, 

but in late June 2009, Hillesheim received a call from Berg during which Berg told 
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Hillesheim that there was going to be an investigation, that he had closed the accounts, 

and that he would send the Hillesheims a check.  In a second call, Berg told Hillesheim 

that there was an investigation and that he did not want her money to be locked up in the 

investigation.  The Hillesheims received five checks—a first check for $44,250.00 dated 

June 29, 2009, a second check for $48,900.00 dated June 29,2009, a third check for 

$156,000.00 dated June 29, 2009, a fourth check for $3,500.00 dated June 29, 2009, and 

a fifth check for $3,500.00 dated June 29, 2009.  The Hillesheims received a total of 

$256,150.00 on or after June 29, 2009.   

j. Upon information and belief, Respondent Larry Hopfenspirger 

learned about the scheme through Respondent Steven Cheney.  Hopfenspirger invested 

$500,500.00 in the Trading Program.  Before late June 2009, Hopfenspirger requested 

and received periodic withdrawals totaling $453,500.00.  Hopfenspirger never completed 

paperwork to request any of these withdrawals.  During a conversation with Cheney on 

June 30, 2009, Cheney mentioned to Hopfenspirger that Cheney was withdrawing his 

money because Cook had told Cheney there was “some kind of question with the 

brokerage and [Cook's partner].”  Cheney offered to get Hopfenspirger's money out as 

well.  Cheney mailed Hopfenspirger, and Hopfenspirger received, a check for 

$202,000.00, dated June 29, 2009.  Hopfenspirger received a total of $202,000.00 on or 

after June 29, 2009.   

k. Upon information and belief, Respondent Steven Kautzman became 

a personal acquaintance of Berg when he purchased carpet from Berg for his company.  

Through Berg, Kautzman invested $116,469.00 in the Trading Program.  Kautzman 
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never requested any withdrawal, but in late June 2009, Kautzman received a voicemail 

from Berg stating that “there was a check on the way” and that “Trevor said [something] 

is going on with his partner.”  Kautzman received a check for $119,550.00, dated June 

29, 2009, by FedEx.  Kautzman received a total of $119,550.00 on or after June 29, 2009. 

l. Upon information and belief, Respondent James McIntosh was a 

personal acquaintance of Berg and was Berg's supervisor.  Through Berg, McIntosh 

invested $250,000.00 in the Trading Program.  Before late June 2009, McIntosh received 

periodic withdrawals totaling $30,456.00.  Without requesting a withdrawal, McIntosh 

received a $250,000.00 check, dated June 29, 2009.  McIntosh received a total of 

$250,000.00 on or after June 29, 2009.   

m. Upon information and belief, Respondents George and Karen 

Morrisset learned of the Trading Program from their personal acquaintance Respondent 

Walter Defiel.  The Morrissets invested $55,735.00 in the Trading Program.  The 

Morrissets never completed paperwork to request a withdrawal.  The Morrissets received 

two checks from Defiel—a first check for $22,000.00, dated June 29, 2009, and a second 

check for $39,050.00, dated June 29, 2009.  The Morrissets received a total of $61,050.00 

on or after June 29, 2009. 

n. Upon information and belief, Respondent Reynold Sundstrom 

became a personal acquaintance of Berg when he purchased carpet from Berg for his 

company.  Through Berg, Sundstrom invested $75,000.00 in the Trading Program.  

Sundstrom never requested any withdrawal, but in late June 2009, Sundstrom received a 

call from Berg stating that there were some problems and an investigation, and that 
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Sundstrom would get a check in the mail.  Sundstrom received a check for $85,450.00, 

dated June 29, 2009.  Sundstrom received a total of $85,450 on or after June 29, 2009.   

o. Upon information and belief, Respondent Dot Anderson is the 

grandmother of Cook employee Grant Grysbowski.  Through Grysbowski, Anderson 

invested $102,000 in the Trading Program.  On July 15, 2009, after she saw a newspaper 

article regarding the Receivership Entities and mentioning lawsuits filed against them, 

Anderson called Grysbowski and told him to get her money out.  Anderson never 

completed paperwork to request a withdrawal. On July 15, 2010 Anderson received a 

first wire transfer for $1,000.00 and a second wire transfer for $101,000.00.  Anderson 

received a total of $102,000.00 on or after June 29, 2009.    

32. The money used to pay the Respondents came from Receivership Entities 

funded with the money of victims of the scheme, as detailed in Exhibits 1 and 2 and 

below: 

a. On June 29, 2009, $3,223,600.00 was withdrawn from the 

Associated Bank account of Receivership Entity Crown Forex, LLC and distributed to 

Respondents George and Karen Morrisset, Steven and Jenene Fredell, Michael and 

Cynthia Hillesheim, Reynold Sundstrom, Walter Defiel, Steven Kautzman, James 

McIntosh, David Buysse, William Harris, Michael Heise, and John Dzik, in the amounts 

detailed in Exhibit 1 and paragraph 31 above.   

b. On July 1, 2009, an additional $79,211.53 was withdrawn from the 

Associated Bank account of Receivership Entity Crown Forex, LLC and distributed to 

Respondents Steven Fredell and Michael Heise, in the amounts detailed in Exhibit 1 and 
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paragraph 31 above.   

c. On June 30, 2009, $2,917,870.00 was withdrawn from the Wells 

Fargo account of Receivership Entity UBS Diversified Growth LLC and distributed to 

Respondents Hopfenspirger, Frahm, Michael and Cynthia Hillesheim, and Steven and 

Pamela Cheney, in the amounts detailed in Exhibit 1 and paragraph 31 above. 

d. On July 15, 2009, $102,000.00 was withdrawn from the Associated 

Bank NA account of Receivership Entity Basel Group LLC and distributed to 

Respondent Anderson. 

e. On July 15, 2009, $2,100.00 was withdrawn from the Associated 

Bank NA account of Receivership Entity Oxford Global Partners LLC and distributed to 

Respondent Dzik.  

f. On July 23, 2009, $2,100.00 was withdrawn from the Wells Fargo 

account of Graham Cook and distributed to Respondent Dzik.  

g. The $2,100.00 distributed to Respondent Dzik from the Wells Fargo 

account of Graham Cook consisted of Receivership funds.   

h. On August 1, 2009, $2,200.00 was withdrawn from the Wells Fargo 

account of Receivership Entity PFG Coin and Bullion and distributed to Respondent 

Dzik.  

33. Each Respondent received Receivership funds in an amount equal to or in 

excess of the amount he or she had invested in the Trading Program.   

34. Cook initiated the transfers to each Respondent on or after June 29, 2009 

with actual intent to avoid, hinder, or delay payments to other creditors of Cook and the 
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Receivership Entities.   

35. Each Respondent knew or should have known that the transfers they 

received on or after June 29, 2009, were fraudulent conveyances.   

36. Each Respondent received payments preferentially over hundreds of other 

investors who were defrauded by Cook and unable to withdraw the money they had 

invested in the Trading Program.   

COUNT I 
FRAUDULENT TRANSFER (Minn. Stat. §513.41, et seq.) 

 
37. The Receiver realleges, and adopts by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 36. 

38. As discussed above, each Respondent received transfers from the 

Receivership Entities on or after June 29, 2009. 

39. All assets transferred from or by the Receivership Entities, through at least 

November 23, 2009, were transferred pursuant to the Ponzi scheme. 

40. Cook and the Receivership Entities transferred funds to each Respondent 

with actual intent to hinder, delay, or defraud their creditors.   

41. At all relevant times and as a consequence of the transfers, Cook and the 

Receivership Entities knew that the funds remaining with the Receivership Entities were 

insufficient to pay creditors of and/or investors in the scheme. 

42. Pursuant to Minn. Stat. § 513.41, et seq., each transfer made to 

Respondents on or after June 29, 2009 was a fraudulent transfer as to the other investors 

defrauded by the scheme, and the Receiver has the power to avoid such transfers. 
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COUNT II 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

 
43. The Receiver realleges, and adopts by reference the allegations contained in 

paragraphs 1 through 36. 

44. Each Respondent has been unjustly enriched by the receipt of the 

preferential transfers from Receivership Entities made on or after June 29, 2009.   

45. The Respondents’ retention of these funds at the expense of other 

defrauded investors who did not receive a preference violates fundamental principles of 

justice, equity, and good conscience. 

46. The doctrine of unjust enrichment and the principles of law and equity 

require that the funds received by each Respondent on or after June 29, 2009 be returned 

to the Receiver for equitable distribution to all defrauded investors and other creditors. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, the Receiver respectfully requests the Court enter an Order: 

(1) Establishing that funds received by each Respondent from the Receivership 

Entities on or after June 29, 2009 were the result of a fraudulent transfer, or 

in the alternative, that each Respondent was unjustly enriched by the funds 

received from the Receivership Entities on or after June 29, 2009; 

(2) Establishing that the funds received by each Respondent from the 

Receivership Entities on or after June 29, 2009 are property of the 

Receivership; 

(3) Establishing the amount of funds each Respondent received; 
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(4) Entering judgment against each Respondent in an amount equal to the 

amount of funds he or she received from the Receivership Entities on or 

after June 29, 2009; 

(5) Granting such other further relief as the Court deems proper under the 

circumstances. 

 

     Respectfully submitted, 

Dated:  July 23, 2010 
 
 

s/ R.J. Zayed                                          . 
R.J. Zayed (MN Bar No. 309,849) 
Tara C. Norgard (MN Bar No. 307,683) 
Russell J. Rigby (MN Bar No. 323,652) 
Brian W. Hayes (MN Bar No. 294,585) 
Carlson, Caspers, Vandenburgh & 
   Lindquist, P.A. 
225 South Sixth Street, Suite 3200 
Minneapolis, MN 55402 
Telephone:  (612) 436-9600 
Facsimile:  (612) 436-9605 
Email:  rzayed@ccvl.com 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 
 

U.S. COMMODITY FUTURES  
TRADING COMMISSION,  
 
  Plaintiff(s)    Case No: 09-cv-3332 MJD/JJK 
 
v. 
 
TREVOR COOK d/b/a CROWN  
FOREX, LLC, PATRICK KILEY d/b/a 
CROWN FOREX, LLC, UNIVERSAL 
BROKERAGE FX and UNIVERSAL  
BROKERAGE FX DIVERSIFIED, OXFORD 
GLOBAL PARTNERS, LLC, OXFORD 
GLOBAL ADVISORS, LLC, UNIVERSAL  
BROKERAGE FX ADVISORS, LLC f/k/a  
UBS DIVERSIFIED FX ADVISORS, LLC,  
UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE FX  
GROWTH, L.P. f/k/a UBS DIVERSIFIED FX 
GROWTH L.P., UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE 
FX MANAGEMENT, LLC f/k/a UBS  
DIVERSIFIED FX MANAGEMENT, LLC 
and UBS DIVERSIFIED GROWTH, LLC,  
 
   Defendant(s) 
 
R.J. ZAYED, 
 
   Receiver.  
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 
 
UNITED STATES SECURITIES 
AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION,   Case No: 09-cv-3333 MJD/JJK  
 
   Plaintiff(s)    
 
v. 
 
TREVOR G. COOK,  
PATRICK J. KILEY,  
UBS DIVERSIFIED GROWTH, LLC,  
UNIVERSAL BROKERAGE FX 
MANAGEMENT, LLC, 
OXFORD GLOBAL ADVISORS, LLC,  
and OXFORD GLOBAL PARTNERS, LLC, 
 
   Defendants 
  
  and  
 
BASEL GROUP, LLC,  
CROWN FOREX, LLC,  
MARKET SHOT, LLC,  
PFG COIN AND BULLION,  
OXFORD DEVELOPERS, S.A.,  
OXFORD FX GROWTH, L.P.,  
OXFORD GLOBAL MANAGED  
FUTURES FUND, L.P., UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX ADVISORS, LLC, UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX GROWTH, L.P., UBS DIVERSIFIED  
FX MANAGEMENT, LLC, CLIFFORD  
BERG, and ELLEN BERG, 
 
   Relief Defendants. 
 
R.J. ZAYED, 
 
   Receiver.   
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ORDER ALLOWING SUMMARY PROCEEDINGS 

 
This matter came before the Court on the Receiver's Motion for an Order 

Allowing Summary Proceedings.  The Court, being fully advised in the premises, 

hereby finds as follows: 

A. From on or about a date unknown through about November 2009, Trevor 

Gilson Cook, aided and abetted by others, knowingly and intentionally 

created, devised, executed, and attempted to execute a scheme and artifice 

to defraud, and to obtain money and other things of value, by means of 

materially false and misleading statements and representations (hereinafter 

the “Ponzi scheme”).   

B. On April 13, 2010, Trevor Gilson Cook pled guilty to one count of mail 

fraud (18 U.S.C. § 1341) and one count of tax evasion (26 U.S.C. § 7201) 

in connection with his role in the Ponzi scheme. 

C. Cook has admitted under oath to, among other things, diverting investor 

funds to make payments of interest and principal to other investors and to 

pay personal expenses.   

D. All assets transferred from or by any Receivership entity named in the 

above-captioned lawsuits, through November 2009, were transferred 

pursuant to the Ponzi scheme.   

E. All assets transferred from or by Cook, from at least August 2005 through 

November 2009, were transferred pursuant to the Ponzi scheme.  
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F. Summary proceedings for the purpose of recovering investor assets 

transferred to third parties by Cook pursuant to the Ponzi scheme are 

appropriate as means to ensure consistent treatment of the various 

recipients of the transfers, promote judicial efficiency, and decrease 

litigation costs for the Receivership. 

Accordingly, is hereby ORDERED that the Receiver's Motion is 

GRANTED, and the Receiver is authorized to proceed summarily against any 

third party recipient of asset transfers from Cook or any named Receivership 

entity, as follows:  

1) The Receiver shall serve, pursuant to Rule 4 of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure, a Summary Proceedings Application on the 

third party recipient of Receivership assets.   

2) The Summary Proceedings Application shall state the grounds for 

the relief requested, as required by Rule 8(a) of the Federal Rules 

of Civil Procedure. 

3) The third party recipient of Receivership assets shall, pursuant to 

Rule 12 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, have twenty-one 

days from the date of service to answer or otherwise plead. 

4) Within fourteen calendar days of the service of an answer, the 

Receiver and the third party recipient of Receivership assets shall 

schedule a status conference with the Court, the purpose of which 

is to establish an expedited discovery schedule. 
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5) Discovery shall be limited in scope to the following two issues: 

i. The amount and/or value of Receivership funds or assets 

received; and  

ii. any statutory or common law defenses the third recipient 

of Receivership assets may wish to raise.    

6) The limited discovery authorized above shall be conducted 

according to the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, as modified by 

the Court in its expedited discovery schedule.   

 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

 

July 20, 2010         s/ Michael J. Davis                                             
DATE    CHIEF JUDGE MICHAEL J. DAVIS  

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
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 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA 

 
R.J. ZAYED, in His Capacity as Court- 
Appointed Receiver for the Oxford Global  
Partners, LLC, Universal Brokerage, FX, and  
Other Receiver Entities, 
     

Plaintiff, 
 vs.     
 
ASSOCIATED BANK, N.A.,  
   

Defendant. 

 
 
 
 
Case No. 13-cv-00232 (DSD-JM) 

 
 

   
VERIFICATION OF BEHALF OF THE RECEIVER ESTATES 

I, Brian Hayes, on behalf of the Receiver Estates and solely in my capacity as the Court-

Appointed Co-Receiver for those estates, solely for the purpose of this action (ECF No. 34 at 3), 

verify under penalty of perjury that Plaintiff R.J. Zayed’s Responses to Defendant Associated 

Bank, N.A.’s First Set of Interrogatories (“Responses”), served via e-mail on November 4, 2015; 

Supplemental Response to Defendant Associated Bank N.A.’s First Set of Interrogatories (“First 

Supplemental Response), served via e-mail on January 12, 2016; and Second Supplemental 

Response to Interrogatory No. 15, served via e-mail on March 21, 2016, are true and correct. 

I do not have any personal knowledge concerning any of the events described in the 

Responses and, therefore, base this verification solely upon a good faith belief formed after a 

reasonable investigation into the events described in the Responses and a review of documents, 

witness statements and testimony concerning those events.  

 
Dated: April 7, 2016 /s/ Brian Hayes  

Brian Hayes, in my capacity as Court-
Appointed Co-Receiver for the Receiver 
Estates, solely for the purpose of this action 
(ECF No. 34 at 3). 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

TAMPA DIVISION

BURTON W. WIAND, ESQ., 
as Court-Appointed Receiver for 
Scoop Real Estate, L.P., et al.

Plaintiff,

v.     Case No: 8:12-CV-557-T-27EAJ

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A., et al.,

Defendants.
_____________________________________/

ORDER

Before the Court are Defendants, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Timothy Ryan Best’s

Motion To Compel Plaintiff To Answer Deposition Questions, For Additional Time To

Complete Deposition of Plaintiff, and For Sanctions, and Incorporated Memorandum of Law

and Local Rule 3.01(G) Certificate (Dkt. 100) and Receiver’s Opposition (Dkt. 103).  For the

reasons that follow, the motion is granted in part and denied in part. 

Plaintiff Burton W. Wiand, Esq. (“Receiver”) is the court-appointed Receiver for six hedge

funds that lost millions of dollars in a Ponzi scheme conducted from 1999 to 2009.  Receiver is suing

Defendant Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (“Wells Fargo”) as successor-in-interest to Wachovia Bank,

N.A., where accounts were maintained to facilitate the scheme.  Receiver brings claims for

negligence, fraudulent transfer, and unjust enrichment.  Here, Wells Fargo seeks to compel Receiver

to answer certain deposition questions and to permit an additional two hours to complete his

deposition. Wells Fargo also asks the Court to award its reasonable expenses, including attorneys’

fees, incurred in bringing this motion.

Legal standard
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During a deposition, a person may instruct a deponent not to answer a question only: (1)

when necessary to preserve a privilege, (2) to enforce a limitation ordered by the court, or (3) to

protect a witness from an examination being conducted in bad faith or in such a manner as to

unreasonably annoy, embarrass, or oppress the deponent. Fed. R. Civ. P. 30(c)(2).  “The

attorney-client privilege exists to protect confidential communications between client and lawyer

made for the purpose of securing legal advice[.]” In re Slaughter, 694 F.2d 1258, 1260 (11th Cir.

1982) (citations omitted).  However, “[t]he privilege only protects disclosure of communications;

it does not protect disclosure of the underlying facts by those who communicated with the

attorney[.]”  Upjohn Co. v. United States, 449 U.S. 383, 395 (1981).  The party asserting the

privilege has the burden of establishing that it applies. Bogle v. McClure, 332 F.3d 1347, 1358 (11th

Cir. 2003) (citation omitted).

Discussion

During his August 27, 2013 deposition, Receiver invoked the attorney-client privilege and

declined to answer certain questions related to his claims for fraudulent transfer and unjust

enrichment.  Wells Fargo submits that the questions seek the factual basis for these allegations and

do not impinge on privileged communications between Receiver and his attorneys.  Moreover, Wells

Fargo contends that it is entitled to depose Receiver on these topics, even if Receiver has no

independent knowledge of the underlying facts and learned them solely through his attorneys. 

According to Wells Fargo, Receiver is using the attorney-client privilege to “shield facts from

discovery simply because those facts were conveyed to him by his attorneys.” (Dkt. 100 at 2)1 

1 Wells Fargo also claims that Receiver’s refusal to answer questions conflicts with the
“sword and shield” doctrine.  That doctrine states that “a party who raises a claim that will
necessarily require proof by way of a privileged communication cannot insist that the

2
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In opposing the motion, Receiver emphasizes that although he is an attorney, he is a party

in this litigation and is represented by counsel.2   Receiver contends that Wells Fargo asked

questions that seek legal theories, strategies, and conclusions conveyed to Receiver by his attorneys. 

He claims that the disputed questions, while appearing to request factual information, require

interpretation of legal terms of art.  Because his answers would necessarily reveal the legal

conclusions of his attorneys, Receiver maintains that he properly refused to answer them.3 

 Wells Fargo does not challenge Receiver’s ability to invoke the attorney-client privilege to

protect confidential communications pertaining to legal advice from his attorneys.  However, a

deponent may not refuse to answer questions seeking factual information merely because the facts

were learned through counsel. See, e.g., B.C.F. Oil Refining, Inc. v. Consol. Edison Co. of N.Y., 168

F.R.D. 161, 165 (S.D. N.Y. 1996) (explaining that “the attorney-client privilege simply does not

extend to facts known to a party that are central to that party’s claims, even if such facts came to be

known through communications with counsel” (citation omitted)).

Here, the issue is whether Wells Fargo’s inquiries seek the factual basis of Receiver’s claims

communication is privileged.” Allstate Ins. Co. v. Levesque, 263 F.R.D. 663, 667 (M.D. Fla. 2010)
(citation omitted) (finding defendants did not waive attorney-client privilege based on the sword and
shield doctrine).  However, it typically applies when a party’s attorney must testify as a result of
issues injected into the lawsuit by the party. See  id.  Here, Receiver is being asked about the factual
basis of his claims, which exist independent of his attorneys, although he may have learned the facts
through an attorney. 

2 Receiver refers to an order in a separate case in which the court denied Wells Fargo’s
motion to disqualify Receiver for allegedly violating ethical rules regulating conflicts of interest.
In the April 25, 2012 order, the court stated that Receiver was not acting as an attorney while
fulfilling the duties of a receiver. Sec. & Exch. Comm’n v. Nadel, No. 8:09-cv-87-RAL-TBM, slip
op. at 14  (M.D. Fla. Apr. 25, 2012).

3 Receiver submitted the entire 277-page deposition transcript as an exhibit to his response
(Dkt. 103 Ex. 1), stating that the excerpts attached to Wells Fargo’s motion failed to put his
responses in context (Dkt. 103 at 2 n.1).

3
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or call for the legal theories, strategies, and conclusions of Receiver’s attorneys.  Receiver has

adequately established that certain questions encroach on privileged communications.  For example,

asking Receiver to explain why the doctrines of delayed discovery and continuing violations apply4

calls for legal theories and could result in disclosure of protected communications.5  However,  some

questions were factual in nature and should be answered.  Specifically, Receiver shall respond to

the following seven (7) questions: 

(1) Does the receiver know whether its position is that under [the] origination
[column], these are assets of the identified company or assets of the debtor?
(Dkt. 100 at 11)

(2) If Art Nadel has transferred money from Victory Fund to Scoop Capital, as
the transferee, do you believe that Art Nadel controls Scoop Capital (Id. at
12)   

(3) Is it your understanding that the destination account is the account into which
the wired amounts were sent? (Id. at 13) 

(4) Do you believe that those accounts listed under destination account [on
Exhibit B] were the recipient of the wired funds? (Id.) 

(5) How did Wachovia execute a transfer if it wasn’t a transferor bank? (Id. at
15)

(6) Factually what’s the period of time in which the receiver believes it can
recover for the fraudulent transfer claims? What period of time? (Id. at 16) 

(7) Does the receiver believe that all transfers dating back to 2002 are subject to
recovery in this action? (Id.) 

Given the limited number of questions, Wells Fargo may depose Receiver for no more than

one (1) hour on these matters.  Wells Fargo’s request for its reasonable expenses in bringing the

motion is denied. See Fed. R. Civ. P. 37(a)(5)(C). 

4 Wells Fargo’s counsel asked Receiver: “Why is it that the receiver believes, despite Judge
Whittemore’s ruling in another receivership case where the receiver is trying to assert a fraudulent
transfer claim, that the delayed discovery doctrine and continuing violations doctrine has any
application?” (Dkt. 100 at 15)  

5 Any other questions specifically identified by Wells Fargo in its motion, other than the
seven identified above, were properly objected to on the basis of attorney-client privilege. 
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Accordingly and upon consideration, it is hereby ORDERED and ADJUDGED that:

(1) Defendants, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. and Timothy Ryan Best’s Motion To Compel

Plaintiff To Answer Deposition Questions, For Additional Time To Complete

Deposition of Plaintiff, and For Sanctions (Dkt. 100) is GRANTED in part and

DENIED in part as set forth above. 

(2) On or before December 6, 2013, Wells Fargo shall conduct Receiver’s deposition

for the limited purpose of asking the questions, identified above, to which Receiver

improperly invoked the attorney-client privilege.  The deposition shall not exceed

one (1) hour.6 

DONE and ORDERED in Tampa, Florida on this 22nd  day of November, 2013.

6 The dispositive motion deadline will be reset by separate order. 
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